







Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2018

Report No. 2, 56th Parliament State Development, Natural Resources and Agricultural Industry Development Committee March 2018

State Development, Natural Resources and Agricultural Industry Development Committee

Chair Mr Chris Whiting MP, Member for Bancroft

Deputy Chair Mr Pat Weir MP, Member for Condamine

Members Mr David Batt MP, Member for Bundaberg

Mr Jim Madden MP, Member for Ipswich West

Mr Brent Mickelberg MP, Member for Buderim

Ms Jess Pugh MP, Member for Mount Ommaney

Committee Secretariat

Telephone +61 7 3553 6623

Email sdnraidc@parliament.qld.gov.au

Technical Scrutiny

Secretariat

+61 7 3553 6601

Committee webpage www.parliament.qld.gov.au/SDNRAIDC

Acknowledgements

The committee acknowledges the assistance provided by the Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy.

Contents

Abbre	eviations	ii
Chair	's foreword	iii
Reco	mmendations	iv
1	Introduction	1
1.1	Role of the committee	1
1.2	Inquiry referral and committee process	1
1.3	Policy objectives of the Bill	2
1.4	Government consultation on the Bill	2
	1.4.1 Solar Bonus Scheme	2
	1.4.2 Regulatory arrangements for competition in embedded networks	2
	1.4.3 Removal of non-reversion policy for small customers	3
1.5	Should the Bill be passed?	3
2	Examination of the Bill	4
2.1	Solar Bonus Scheme	4
	2.1.1 Amendments proposed in the Bill	4
	2.1.2 Stakeholder views and department response	4
	2.1.3 Committee consideration	7
2.2	Regulatory arrangements for competition in embedded networks	8
	2.2.1 Background	8
	2.2.2 Amendments proposed in the Bill	9
	2.2.3 Stakeholder views and department response	9
	2.2.4 Committee consideration	10
2.3	Removal of non-reversion policy for small customers	11
	2.3.1 Background	11
	2.3.2 Amendments proposed in the Bill	11
	2.3.3 Stakeholder views and department response	12
	2.3.4 Committee consideration	12
3	Compliance with the Legislative Standards Act 1992	13
3.1	Fundamental legislative principles	13
3.2	Explanatory notes	13
Appe	ndix A – Submitters	14
Appe	ndix B – Officials at public departmental briefing	15
Appe	ndix C – Report No. 44 Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in	Tariff
	Amendment Bill 2017	16
State	ment of Reservation	52

Abbreviations

2017 Bill	Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2017		
AEMC	Australian Energy Market Commissioner		
Bill (2018 Bill)	Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2018		
department	Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy		
Electricity Act	Electricity Act 1994		
ENO	Embedded Network Operator		
FLPs	fundamental legislative principles		
44c/Kwh	44 cents per kilowatt-hour		
LSA	Legislative Standards Act 1992		
MEA	Master Electricians Australia		
Mwh	Megawatt hour		
NEM	National Electricity Market		
NER	National Electricity Rules		
PV	photovoltaic		
PWUC	Public Works and Utilities Committee (55 th Parliament)		
QFF	Queensland Farmers' Federation		
QPC	Queensland Productivity Commission		
RIS	Regulatory Impact Statement		

Chair's foreword

This report presents a summary of the State Development, Natural Resources and Agricultural Industry Development Committee's examination of the Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2018.

The committee's task was to consider the policy to be achieved by the legislation and the application of fundamental legislative principles – that is, to consider whether the Bill has sufficient regard to the rights and liberties of individuals, and to the institution of Parliament.

The committee was greatly aided in this undertaking by the work of the Public Works and Utilities Committee (PWUC) of the 55th Parliament, which considered and reported on the 2017 version of the Bill. The PWUC's public consultation process and thorough scrutiny of the provisions of the 2017 Bill helped to ensure that this committee was well-placed to understand and develop a position on the Bill in the given timeframe.

On behalf of the committee, I thank those individuals and organisations who made written submissions on the Bill. I also thank the Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy.

I commend this report to the House.

C. Whiting

Mr Chris Whiting MP

Chair

Recommendations

Recommendation 1 3

The committee recommends the Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2018 be passed.

1 Introduction

1.1 Role of the committee

The State Development, Natural Resources and Agricultural Industry Development Committee (committee) is a portfolio committee of the Legislative Assembly which commenced on 15 February 2018 under the *Parliament of Queensland Act 2001* and the Standing Rules and Orders of the Legislative Assembly.¹

The committee's primary areas of responsibility are:

- State Development, Manufacturing, Infrastructure and Planning
- Natural Resources, Mines and Energy
- Agricultural Industry Development and Fisheries.

Section 93(1) of the *Parliament of Queensland Act 2001* provides that a portfolio committee is responsible for examining each bill and item of subordinate legislation in its portfolio areas to consider:

- the policy to be given effect by the legislation
- the application of fundamental legislative principles (FLPs)
- for subordinate legislation its lawfulness.

1.2 Inquiry referral and committee process

The Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2018 (Bill/2018 Bill) was introduced into the Legislative Assembly and referred to the committee on 15 February 2018. The committee was required report to the Legislative Assembly by 15 March 2018.

On 11 August 2017 the Public Works and Utilities Committee (PWUC) of the 55th Parliament reported on the Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2017 (2017 Bill) which contained similar provisions. The PWUC report recommended that the Bill be passed.

The 2017 Bill lapsed when the 55th Parliament was dissolved on 29 October 2017. The State Development, Natural Resources and Agricultural Industry Development Committee has considered the evidence provided to the PWUC in 2017, including the 12 submissions received. The PWUC Report No. 44 on the 2017 Bill is attached to this Report (see Appendix C).

On 20 February 2018, this committee invited stakeholders and subscribers to make written submissions on the Bill. Seven submissions were received (see Appendix A for a list of submitters).

The committee received a public briefing about the Bill from the Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy (the department) on 5 March 2018. A transcript is published on the committee's web page; see Appendix B for a list of the department officers that provided evidence.

The committee also received written advice from the department in response to matters raised in submissions.

The submissions, correspondence from the department and transcript of the public briefing are available on the committee's webpage.

State Development, Natural Resources and Agricultural Industry Development Committee

Parliament of Queensland Act 2001, section 88 and Standing Order 194.

1.3 Policy objectives of the Bill

The explanatory notes provided that the purpose of the Bill is to amend the *Electricity Act 1994* (Electricity Act), the *Energy and Water Ombudsman Act 2006* and the *National Energy Retail Law (Queensland) Act 2014* to:

- clarify when additional generation systems and electricity storage devices can be deployed in association with the Solar Bonus Scheme
- enable the effective implementation of a new national regulatory framework for retail competition in embedded electricity networks which commenced on 1 December 2017
- allow residential and small business customers in regional Queensland to have the option to return to Ergon Retail, if they are at a property that has switched to a private retailer.

The provisions regarding residential and small business customers in regional Queensland were not included in the 2017 Bill.

1.4 Government consultation on the Bill

1.4.1 Solar Bonus Scheme

The explanatory notes advised that throughout the development of the Solar Bonus Scheme proposal in 2016, officers from the former Department of Energy and Water Supply consulted confidentially with a number of major stakeholders in the Queensland electricity market including Energex, Ergon Energy, AGL, Origin Energy and Lumo/Red Energy.² In relation to stakeholder concerns on oversizing, particularly in warranty situations, the explanatory notes advised:

... the Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy has worked with the Master Electricians Australia and distribution businesses to agree a pragmatic approach to compliance. This recognises the intent that customers be able to replace panels on a like for like basis.³

1.4.2 Regulatory arrangements for competition in embedded networks

In relation to the regulatory arrangements for competition in embedded networks the explanatory notes advised:

- the Queensland Government released a discussion paper canvassing the major market and regulatory challenges associated with electricity supply in embedded networks, with a particular focus on addressing consumer protection and introducing competition in the marketplace
- the former Department of Energy and Water Supply held a targeted stakeholder workshop to
 explore the impacts of the Embedded Networks Rule change proposal and subsequently
 released a further discussion paper to stakeholders to explore the potential impacts, benefits
 and technical issues associated with introducing retail competition in embedded networks
- in accordance with the Queensland Government Guide to Better Regulation, the Office of Best Practice Regulation confirmed that the embedded networks proposal is excluded from the Regulatory Impact Statement (RIS) process on the grounds that the Embedded Networks Rule has undergone an extensive consultation and impact assessment which is comparable to the requirements of the RIS system.⁴

² Explanatory notes, p 7.

³ Explanatory notes, p 7.

⁴ Explanatory notes, p 8.

1.4.3 Removal of non-reversion policy for small customers

In relation to the proposed removal of the non-reversion policy for small customers the explanatory notes advised that over the last ten years, regional customers and advocates, including Members of Parliament have raised concerns regarding the non-reversion policy:

In particular, concerns were raised that the policy limits options for residential and small business customers, and that it is unfair for new occupants of a property to not have the option to be an Ergon Retail customer where a previous occupant had switched to a market contract. Similar concerns were also raised during consultation conducted by the Queensland Productivity Commission (QPC) during its Electricity Pricing Inquiry. In its final report (May 2016), the QPC identified removing this policy as one measure for increasing regional retail competition.⁵

1.5 Should the Bill be passed?

Standing Order 132(1) requires the committee to determine whether or not to recommend that the Bill be passed.

Recommendation 1

The committee recommends the Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2018 be passed.

⁵ Explanatory notes, p 8.

Examination of the Bill 2

While the Bill was considered by this committee in its entirety, its provisions and their effect have to a large extent been summarised in the PWUC's comprehensive report on the equivalent provisions in the 2017 Bill. This committee has therefore attached the PWUC report at Appendix C for reference.

This section outlines this committee's consideration of the Bill, including the additional provisions incorporated in the 2018 Bill. Please refer to the PWUC report for the examination of issues raised in submissions on the 2017 Bill.

2.1 **Solar Bonus Scheme**

2.1.1 Amendments proposed in the Bill

The Bill proposes to amend the Electricity Act to clarify the specific circumstances in which Solar Bonus Scheme customers will not be permitted to use additional generation and electricity storage devices (see proposed new section 44A(1A)).

It is proposed that the following proscribed circumstances will not be permitted:

- installation of additional generation systems and/or electricity storage devices in a way that enables the system and/or device to supply energy to the premises at the same time the Solar Bonus Scheme qualifying generator is operating
- installation of additional generation systems and/or electricity storage devices in a way that allows them to export electricity to the network
- the practice of 'oversizing' existing Solar Bonus Scheme qualifying generators. 6

Proposed section 44A(1B) provides that if a customer breaches any of the conditions in section 44A(1A), the distributor is no longer obliged to pay the customer the Solar Bonus Scheme feed-in tariff of 44 cents per kilowatt-hour (44c/kWh).7

The explanatory notes state 'the approach in the Bill balances the government's commitment to Solar Bonus Scheme customers to retain the 44c/kWh feed-in tariff, while supporting the deployment of new energy technologies, minimising compliance costs, and limiting the potential for Solar Bonus Scheme costs to rise.'8

2.1.2 Stakeholder views and department response

Ms Waugh's submission raises equity concerns that the cost recovery arrangements for the Solar Bonus Scheme and other 'green scheme' costs increase costs for all electricity users and disadvantage people of less means. The department responded that while the Queensland Government response to the Queensland Productivity Commission (QPC) Electricity Pricing Inquiry ruled out early closure of the Solar Bonus Scheme, the department noted that under the Powering Queensland Plan, the government:

- directed Energy Queensland to remove the cost of the Solar Bonus Scheme from electricity bills over three years from mid-2017
- reissued its delegation to the Queensland Competition Authority to set 2017-18 prices in line with the reduced rates. 10

⁶ Explanatory notes, p 3.

⁷ Explanatory notes, p 8.

⁸ Explanatory notes, p 3.

⁹ Submission 1, p 3.

¹⁰ Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, correspondence dated 2 March 2018, p 1.

Mr Kerr's submission sought an assurance that 'like for like' replacement of photovoltaic (PV) panels will not result in him losing eligibility for the Solar Bonus Scheme. ¹¹ The department advised:

- the effect of proposed new section 44A(1A) in the Electricity Act is that if a customer oversizes their system that customer will lose eligibility for the Solar Bonus Scheme
- oversizing is where the maximum output of the installed panels is an aggregate larger than the capacity of the customer's approved total rated inverter capacity
- to safeguard customers who have already oversized their systems, proposed new section 360(2) of the Electricity Act provides that the new rule does not apply to an oversizing modification made before commencement of the provision (proposed to be the date the Bill was introduced, that is, 15 February 2018).

The department noted Mr Kerr's advice that his system is already oversized, although the panels themselves have become degraded over time such that they are no longer able to produce the output they once could and it provided the following advice:

While the proposed amendments should not prevent Mr Kerr replacing his existing panels on a like for like basis, it is important to note they will not otherwise permit customers to remain eligible if they have breached separate Solar Bonus Scheme requirements. From his submission, this appears to be of concern to Mr Kerr given his previous experiences and he is attempting to address these issues with Energex as the distributor responsible for compliance and enforcement of the Solar Bonus Scheme in Mr Kerr's area.

In relation to Mr Kerr's concerns about his ability to demonstrate panel replacements are like for like in situations where oversizing has already occurred, it is recommended that where customers have not retained original sales material, they request installers who are replacing older systems to document the size of panels being replaced.¹³

Mr Sheehan's submission proposed alternative solutions such as cap or a voluntary buyout of a customer's future Solar Bonus Scheme entitlements rather than a 'prescriptive' approach which places restrictions on Solar Bonus Scheme customers who wish to install a battery or oversize existing systems to maximise self-use of the solar output. The department advised that the Bill does not limit customers' ability to expand an existing system, install an additional system or use a battery to power their home or business:

Customers may do all of these things, but if they do so beyond what is permitted under the proposed provisions, they will become ineligible to receive the Solar Bonus Scheme. The Bill still allows a customer to maximise the use of their solar through the utilisation of their solar in conjunction with a battery provided that the battery is configured to discharge to the house once the solar system has stopped generating power for the day.¹⁵

In response to the alternative approaches suggested by Mr Sheehan the department advised:

• a cap on exports would present administrative complexity and implementation costs for distributors and retailers

12 _ .

¹¹ Submission 2.

¹² Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, correspondence dated 2 March 2018, p 2.

¹³ Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, correspondence dated 2 March 2018, p 2.

¹⁴ Submission 3.

¹⁵ Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, correspondence dated 2 March 2018, p 2.

 a voluntary buyback would be complex and has the potential to further increase costs of the Solar Bonus Scheme and the Bill is not intended to provide an incentive to customers to forego future feed-in tariffs.¹⁶

While the submission from Master Electricians Australia (MEA) supported the objectives of the proposed Solar Bonus Scheme amendments, it made the following comments and recommendations:

- restricting the practice of oversizing will not result in the equal or greater export of power to the grid without a variation to the inverter
- the Bill defines oversizing in a different way to that which is currently understood by industry
 which is likely to cause confusion in the industry and to disputes between retailers, suppliers,
 installers and regulators
- supported a greater deal of prescription around compliance and enforcement decisions relating
 to oversizing in warranty situations where the original panel size is no longer available –
 recommended an amendment to the Bill to specify the circumstances and degree to which the
 distribution businesses may exercise a degree of flexibility concerning oversizing restrictions
- recommended a definition be included in proposed new section 360 of the Electricity Act to clarify that the term commencement refers to commencement of the section, rather than commencement of the Solar Bonus Scheme
- concerned about the level of industry consultation that occurred during development of the Bill
- recommended the committee support an education campaign and material for contractors and consumers be developed and disseminated with two months of the amendments being passed by Parliament.¹⁷

The department provided the following advice on each of the issues raised by the MEA:

- the practice of installing extra solar PV panels does enable more kilowatt-hours of electricity to be generated and exported to the grid by enabling the customer to increase the duration of system peak (maximum) to the technical limit of the inverter – this means some customers can receive greater payment
- in relation to terminology, the Bill specifies that what is prescribed is the practice of installing
 extra solar panels, the maximum output of which, in aggregate, would exceed the output of the
 approved inverter and that the inverter would stop this maximum output being achieved, and
 the purpose of oversizing are not specified as relevant considerations
- department officers have worked closely with the MEA and Energy Queensland to develop a
 compliance and enforcement approach to oversizing that is pragmatic agreed that in situations
 where oversizing is not the fault of the customer and the customer is not able to exercise choice
 in relation to replacement panels, compliance action would not be taken if customers oversize
 by 5 per cent
- in line with normal interpretation rules (see section 32F(2) of the *Acts Interpretation Act 1954*), the commencement date of the provision is proposed to be the date of introduction of the Bill to Parliament
- extensive consultation on the Solar Bonus Scheme was undertaken by the QPC as part of its Electricity Pricing Inquiry and the department engaged with the MEA extensively in relation to the proposed amendments from August 2017

¹⁶ Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, correspondence dated 2 March 2018, p 2.

¹⁷ Submission 4.

 the department noted the importance of alerting installers to the proposed changes and has written to representative organisation such as the MEA for assistance in distributing information about the changes to members.¹⁸

2.1.3 Committee consideration

At the public briefing on the Bill the committee asked the department to provide further detail about the pragmatic approach that is planned with regards to compliance of the oversizing provisions. The department advised:

The approach that is proposed to be taken is in instances where a panel is required to be replaced under warrantee. There is an instance that can arise now where the panel that is being replaced is of a higher wattage under the same manufacturer. That being the case, there needs to be some sort of allowance to provide for that scenario where the panel can be installed into the system. In discussions with the distribution businesses and Master Electricians and looking at the differences in panel that now exist, a decision was made to allow for that five per cent allowance for the capacity of the solar system. It only affects those that currently have systems up to the inverter capacity now. If you have an undersized system you can add those extra panels on. It is just in instances where additional panels are added and it pushes them over that threshold that an allowance is made so that warrantee replacement can occur without that 44 cents being voided.

That is proposed to be handled through the compliance side of the mechanism rather than seeking to prescribe in legislation or regulation all the different instances where different allowances would need to be made. It is quite easy to get captured in that compliance and monitoring regime through the distribution businesses.¹⁹

The committee asked whether it would be preferable to include the 5 per cent allowance in the legislation as this would make it enforceable. The department advised that while the 5 per cent allowance could be included in the legislation this is not preferred as including the figure in the broader pragmatic approach to compliance 'gives flexibility to understand what is happening on a case-by-case basis and it is actually fairer to the customer and still meets the intent of keeping costs low for the compliance program and for the scheme overall'.²⁰

The department also advised that while the 5 per cent allowance is not prescribed in legislation it has been captured in information made available to industry:

On the day the bill was introduced we sought to send an installer alert to the key organisations, including Master Electricians, the Clean Energy Council and the Smart Energy Council, to advise their installers how we will be seeking to treat the matter. Distribution businesses are also making that information available so installers have clarity on how we will be treating those instances.²¹

In relation to the retrospective application of the amendments to the date the Bill was introduced to Parliament (15 February 2018), the committee asked whether the department considered this potential breach of FLPs justified. The department advised:

Yes. Certainly that was the intent of the retrospectivity requirement. I think it is also important to remember that the intent of the Solar Bonus Scheme was that customers used the energy first in their home, so it is about excess going to the grid. Without these clarifications, we are

¹⁸ Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, correspondence dated 2 March 2018, pp 3-4.

¹⁹ Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, public briefing transcript, 5 March 2018, p 3.

²⁰ Public briefing transcript, 5 March 2018, p 3.

²¹ Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, public briefing transcript, 5 March 2018, p 3.

essentially allowing customers to maximise their exports to the grid and not necessarily use the energy in the home. That was inconsistent with the scheme.²²

The committee asked whether the department had made an estimation of how much it would cost the government if the proposed changes to the scheme are not implemented. The department advised that it has estimated approximately \$1 billion in additional costs that could be incurred by the scheme, with about \$900,000 attributed to oversizing and the remainder for second systems and batteries.²³

The committee asked the department what it has planned more broadly in relation to educating contractors and customers about the proposed changes to the Solar Bonus Scheme. The department advised that on the day the Bill was introduced into Parliament an installer alert had been prepared and was issued to all the key peak bodies and organisations for them to distribute among their members:

We have also had discussions with Energy Queensland—both Energex and Ergon—the distribution businesses. An installer alert has been prepared and released outlining to those people the instances that now get captured under this bill and the date that they are proposed to take effect. That is the information going out to the market to ensure that everyone has that awareness and is able to act accordingly within the new guidelines.

Our web content has been updated to reflect the changes that have been made. There is also a document on the history of the Solar Bonus Scheme which we have reviewed to capture the changes that are proposed in this bill. Should the bill be passed, we will seek to update that again to let people know the actual changes in the bill to customers. I imagine that we will seek again to send out information to those members on our mailing list once the bill has been passed to confirm those changes and when they will take effect.²⁴

The committee strongly encourages the department to commence a broader and more proactive education campaign in addition to what is currently being developed.

2.2 Regulatory arrangements for competition in embedded networks

2.2.1 Background

Embedded networks are private electricity networks which serve multiple premises and are located within, and connected to, a distribution or transmission system through a parent connection point in the National Electricity Market (NEM) (for example, shopping centres, retirement villages, caravan parks, apartment blocks and office buildings).²⁵

Within an embedded network, the embedded network operator (ENO) (for example, a shopping centre owner), also known as an 'on-supplier', provides embedded network customers (also known as 'receivers') with network services. Many ENOs also sell electricity to embedded network customers (for example, a business leasing space in a shopping centre).²⁶

In September 2014, the Queensland Parliament agreed to apply the National Energy Retail Law in Queensland when it passed the National Energy Retail Law (Queensland) Bill 2014. The *Electricity - National Scheme (Queensland) Act 1997* governs Queensland's participation in the NEM by applying the National Electricity Law in Queensland. This Act also applies the National Electricity Rules (NER) to the NEM in Queensland. These rules have the force of law, and are made under the National Electricity Law.

²² Public briefing transcript, 5 March 2018, p 5.

²³ Public briefing transcript, 5 March 2018, p 5.

²⁴ Public briefing transcript, 5 March 2018, p 3.

²⁵ AEMC factsheet, <u>New rules for embedded networks</u>, accessed 5 July 2017.

²⁶ AEMC factsheet, New rules for embedded networks, accessed 5 July 2017.

While full retail contestability commenced for the majority of Queenslanders in 2007, access to competition for embedded network customers was deferred until a nationally consistent framework was established. The new national framework for embedded networks has since been formed following the recommendations in the Australian Energy Market Commission's (AEMC) Power of Choice review.²⁷

On 17 Dec 2015, the AEMC made a new NER, known as the Embedded Networks Rule 2015. The new Rule aims to reduce the barriers to on-supply (embedded network) customers accessing offers from electricity retailers. ²⁸ The rule change followed a request proposed by the Australian Energy Market Operator (AEMO) stemming from recommendations in the 2012 AEMC's Power of Choice review. ²⁹ The new Rule commenced on 1 December 2017. ³⁰

2.2.2 Amendments proposed in the Bill

The Bill proposes to amend the Electricity Act to remove the former restriction placed on 'receivers' having to connect to the local distribution network in order to access retail market offers from an authorised retailer.³¹

While amendments to the NER come into force without the need for any Queensland-specific legislative amendment, the explanatory notes advised the amendments to Queensland legislation are required in order to remove barriers that prevent competition for embedded network customers and avoid any conflict with the implementation of this major national reform in Queensland.³² The explanatory notes advised:

The amendment of existing legislation will mean that Queensland will be consistent with the NER, which have the force of law in this jurisdiction. Currently, Victoria, NSW, South Australia and the Australian Capital Territory have regulatory frameworks that allow for embedded network customers to access retail market offers. However, upon commencement of the Embedded Network Rule on 1 December 2017, these jurisdictions have transitioned to the new framework as the NER also have the force of law in these jurisdictions.³³

2.2.3 Stakeholder views and department response

The Shopping Centre Council of Australia submission thanked the department for its engagement with them and indicated the Council had no objection to the proposed amendments on the understanding it will not impose additional costs, outside the national rules, for ENOs. ³⁴ In response the department advised that the Bill does not impose additional costs for Queensland ENOs, outside of the National Rules. The department noted the new rule has been designed by the AEMC to limit compliance costs and administrative burden for embedded network owners. ³⁵

The Queensland Farmers' Federation (QFF) welcomed the proposed amendments in theory but noted its concerns regarding the practical application of the amendments. The QFF also advised that it and its

²⁷ Public briefing transcript, 5 March 2018, 2.

²⁸ Department of Energy and Water Supply, correspondence to PWUC dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 3, p 1.

²⁹ AEMC factsheet, New rules for embedded networks, accessed 5 July 2017.

³⁰ Explanatory notes, p 1.

³¹ Explanatory notes, p 3.

³² Explanatory notes, p 2.

³³ Explanatory notes, p 9.

³⁴ Submission 6.

³⁵ Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, correspondence dated 2 March 2018, p 5.

partners have recently submitted a research funding proposal to Energy Consumers Australia to investigate the benefits and barriers to regionally embedded generation.³⁶

The MEA was concerned about the transition process noting that the switch will need to occur on a single day to ensure continuity of supply and this will require coordination between the ENO, the new retailer, distribution network provider, and metering provider, coordinator and installer.³⁷

The submission from TradeCoast Central argued the proposed amendment to Queensland law is 'premature and inconsistent with the long standing position of the Queensland Government since 2006, that being to delay the introduction of Retail Competition to customers in an on-supply arrangement (i.e. not directly connected to either Ergon or Energy) until a national harmonized solution addressing embedded networks is introduced'.³⁸ The submission also noted that the AEMC's National Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015, does not present as a national solution to reducing barriers to embedded network customers accessing offers from electricity retailers as the AEMC is currently conducting further reviews of this sector.³⁹

The department responded to the submission from TradeCoast Central by advising that the Queensland Government committed to providing competition to customers within embedded networks when a nationally consistent approach for embedded networks was developed and incorporated into the NER:

As part of the AEMC's Power of Choice Review reform program, the Embedded Networks Rule directly contributes to this commitment by making changes to the National Electricity Rules (NER) that aim to reduce the barriers to embedded network customers choosing the products, services and provider of retail services that suit them best.

Under the National Electricity Law, applied in Queensland by the Electricity—National Scheme (Queensland) Act 1997, the NER have the force of law in this jurisdiction. Accordingly, amendments to those rules providing for the reform of arrangements regarding competition in embedded networks will come into force without the need for any Queensland-specific legislative amendment. However, consequential amendments to Queensland legislation are required to ensure consistency with the implementation of this major national reform in Queensland.

DNRME notes that the AEMC is currently reviewing regulatory arrangements for embedded networks more broadly. While this process is ongoing, any outcomes are outside the scope of the $Bill.^{40}$

2.2.4 Committee consideration

At the public briefing the committee asked the department a number of questions relating to the embedded network changes including how the changes would work in practice, and in particular how associated charges will be passed on. The department advised that it is likely customers will get a bill from their retailer for the cents per kilowatt hour charge (their consumption) and a separate bill from the ENO for their share of the network charge.⁴¹ In relation to how the network charges would be quantified by the ENO, the department advised that this will vary:

Their requirements are under the Australian Energy Retailer's exemption framework. There are other state based legislative requirements as well, but they do not sit with the Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy. They are with Housing and Public Works and residential

10

³⁶ Submission 7, p 2.

³⁷ Submission 4, p 3.

³⁸ Submission 5, p 5.

³⁹ Submission 5, p 5.

⁴⁰ Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, correspondence dated 2 March 2018, p 5.

⁴¹ Public briefing transcript, 5 March 2018, p 4.

tenancies legislation. Their major requirement is under the Australian Energy Regulator's exemption framework. If you use more electricity, you should be paying more network charges. That is not how it works. My understanding is that it is shared equally across residential complexes.⁴²

The committee asked the department to respond to the MEA's concerns about ensuring customers can changeover on the nominated day. The department advised that while this issue is outside the scope of the Bill, there are a number of rule change proposals being considered and one of them is to make certain that there are some clear time frames for the digital metering installation and the notification to customers:

Some of the delays that are occurring will be resolved with that rule change. We also have asked the MEA to give us a number of examples of where there have been problems, which they have done. We are now working through those and we will get back to the MEA about some possible options to resolve those.⁴³

2.3 Removal of non-reversion policy for small customers

2.3.1 Background

The explanatory notes advised that the Queensland Government introduced the 'non-reversion policy' over ten years ago to encourage retail competition by preventing customers in regional Queensland that switch to another retailer from returning to the non-competing government-owned retailer, Ergon Retail.⁴⁴

The policy has delivered mixed results in terms of increasing retail competition in regional Queensland with the Queensland Competition Authority advising that as of June 2016:

- around 38 per cent of large and very large customers in Ergon's area had switched to a private retailer
- in Ergon's network east pricing zone, transmission region one (effectively along the Queensland coastline) more than 50 per cent of large and 76 per cent of very large customers have switched to a private retailer
- less than one per cent of residential and small businesses have switched to a private retailer.

The department also advised that the QPC Pricing Inquiry Final Report (May 2016) found that:

- the non-reversion policy could be contributing to customer reluctance to enter the market knowing that they cannot return
- some retailers in regional Queensland have experienced difficulties because of their obligation under the National Energy Retail Law to provide the notified or regulated prices to small customers (potentially at a loss).⁴⁶

2.3.2 Amendments proposed in the Bill

The Bill proposes to amend the National Energy Retail Law (Queensland) to enable Ergon Retail to offer to supply customer retail services to small customers who are currently supplied by another retailer. The explanatory notes advised that this is a key initiative of the Queensland Government's Affordable

⁴⁵ Explanatory notes, p 3.

⁴² Public briefing transcript, 5 March 2018, p 4.

⁴³ Public briefing transcript, 5 March 2018, p 5.

⁴⁴ Explanatory notes, p 2.

⁴⁶ Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, correspondence dated 2 March 2018, p 6.

Energy Plan (announced in October 2017) and is aimed at making electricity more affordable for household and small business customers.⁴⁷

The amendments will not disturb the non-reversion policy for large customers which the department advises has been very successful in encouraging retail competition in regional Queensland.⁴⁸

2.3.3 Stakeholder views and department response

The MEA, the QFF and Ms Waugh's submissions all supported the removal of the non-reversion policy.⁴⁹ However, the QFF strongly supported the Queensland Productivity Commission Draft Pricing Inquiry Report recommendation 35 that the non-reversion policy should be removed from the Electricity Act and the restriction on Ergon Energy (Retail) competing to retain existing customers should be removed.⁵⁰ The QFF also submitted that the categorization of large customers (those over 100 Mwh) should be revised to 160 Mwh as it is leading to perverse network outcomes.⁵¹

In response the department referred to the QPC Pricing Inquiry findings outlined above and advised that the Government has listened to the concerns raised by regional communities about the non-reversion policy's impact on small customers:

However, the policy has proved successful for large customers, with nearly 40 per cent of large and very large customers in Ergon's area having switched to a private retailer. The figures are even higher in Ergon's area along the Queensland coastline where more than 50 per cent of large and 76 per cent of very large customers have switched.

The Government is considering the ongoing effectiveness of this policy for large customers in the context of broader Community Service Obligation and competition reforms, in line with its response to the QPC Electricity Pricing Inquiry.⁵²

2.3.4 Committee consideration

The committee asked whether the department had considered amending the definition of a small customer. The department advised that the issue had been raised with the department and was part of the QPC Pricing Inquiry in 2016 and that 'there are certainly customers who fall just over that 100-megawatt threshold and who certainly would seek to fall under it—for a variety of reasons, not just for non-reversion policy purposes'. ⁵³

12

⁴⁷ Explanatory notes, p 2.

⁴⁸ Explanatory notes, p 4.

⁴⁹ Submissions 1, 4 and 7.

⁵⁰ Submission7, p 3.

⁵¹ Submission7, p 3.

⁵² Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, correspondence dated 2 March 2018, p 6.

⁵³ Public briefing transcript, 5 March 2018, p 6.

3 Compliance with the *Legislative Standards Act 1992*

3.1 Fundamental legislative principles

Section 4 of the *Legislative Standards Act 1992* (LSA) states that 'fundamental legislative principles' are the 'principles relating to legislation that underlie a parliamentary democracy based on the rule of law'. The principles include that legislation has sufficient regard to:

- the rights and liberties of individuals, and
- the institution of Parliament.

The committee is satisfied that the potential FLP issues within the Bill were canvassed in the PWUC report with respect to the substantially similar provisions in the 2017 Bill. The committee has not identified any further potential issues, nor any issues with the new provisions which will enable residential and small business customers in regional Queensland to have the option to return to Ergon Retail.

3.2 Explanatory notes

Part 4 of the LSA requires an explanatory note be circulated when a bill is introduced into the Legislative Assembly, and sets out the information an explanatory note should contain.

Explanatory notes were tabled with the introduction of the bill. The committee considers the notes are fairly detailed and contain the information required by Part 4 and a reasonable level of background information and commentary to facilitate understanding of the bill's aims and origins.

Appendix A – Submitters

Sub#	Submitter	
001	Madonna Waugh	
002	Anthony Kerr	
003	John Sheehan	
004	Master Electricians Australia	
005	Trade Coast Central	
006	Shopping Centre Council of Australia	
007	Queensland Farmer's Federation	

Appendix B – Officials at public departmental briefing

Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy

- Gayle Leaver, General Manager, Energy Industry Policy
- Tim Quirey, Director, Energy Industry Policy
- Catherine Cussen, General Manager, Regulation, Governance and Analytics
- Kristen Findlay, Acting Director, Energy Consumer Policy
- Rod Cameron, Principal Policy Officer, Energy Consumer Policy

Appendix C – Report No. 44 Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2017









Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2017

Report No. 44, 55th Parliament Public Works and Utilities Committee August 2017

Public Works and Utilities Committee

Chair Mr Shane King MP, Member for Kallangur

Deputy Chair Mr Rob Molhoek MP, Member for Southport

Members Mr Jason Costigan MP, Member for Whitsunday

Mr Matt McEachan MP, Member for Redlands

Ms Joan Pease MP, Member for Lytton

Mr Chris Whiting MP, Member for Murrumba

Committee Secretariat +61 7 3553 6633

pwuc@parliament.qld.gov.au

Technical Scrutiny

Secretariat

+61 7 3553 6601

Committee Web Page www.parliament.gld.gov.au/PWUC

Acknowledgements

The committee acknowledges the assistance provided by the Department of Energy and Water Supply.

Contents

Abb	reviations	ii
Chai	ir's foreword	iii
Reco	ommendation	iv
1	Introduction	1
1.1	Role of the committee	1
1.2	Inquiry process	1
1.3	Policy objectives of the bill	1
1.4	Commencement of the legislation	2
1.5	Consultation on the bill	2
	1.5.1 Solar Bonus Scheme - consultation	2
	1.5.2 Regulatory arrangements for competition in embedded networks - consultation	2
1.6	Should the bill be passed?	3
2	Examination of the Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Amendment Bill 2017	Tariff) 4
2.1	Solar Bonus Scheme	4
	2.1.1 Background	4
	2.1.2 Amendments proposed in the bill	4
	2.1.3 Stakeholder views and department advice	6
2.2	Regulatory arrangements for competition in embedded networks	9
	2.2.1 Background	9
	2.2.2 Amendments proposed in the bill	11
	2.2.3 Stakeholders views and department responses	12
	2.2.4 Further issues considered by the committee	16
3	Compliance with the Legislative Standards Act 1992	17
3.1	Fundamental legislative principles	17
	3.1.1 Rights and liberties of individuals	17
3.2	Explanatory notes	19
Арр	endix A – List of submissions	20
App	endix B – List of witnesses at public departmental briefing	21

Abbreviations

AEMC	Australian Energy Market Commission
AEMO	Australian Energy Market Operator
The bill	Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2017
CCIQ	Chamber of Commerce and Industry Queensland
c/kWh	Cents per kilowatt-hour
The committee	Public Works and Utilities Committee
DEWS/the department	Department of Energy and Water Supply
Electricity Act	Electricity Act 1994
the Rule	Embedded Network Rule
EDO Qld	Environmental Defenders Office, Qld
ENM	Embedded Network Manager
ENO	Embedded Network Operator
EWOQ	Energy and Water Ombudsman Queensland
FLPs	fundamental legislative principles
LSA	Legislative Standards Act 1992
the Minister	Minister for Main Roads, Road Safety and Ports and Minister for Energy, Biofuels and Water Supply
NEM	National Electricity Market
NER	National Electricity Rules
NERR	National Energy Retail Rules
PV	photovoltaic
RIS	Regulatory Impact Statement
SBS	Solar Bonus Scheme
TradeCoast	TradeCoast Central Pty Ltd

Chair's foreword

This report presents a summary of the Public Works and Utilities Committee's examination of the Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2017.

The committee's task was to consider the policy outcomes to be achieved by the legislation, as well as the application of fundamental legislative principles – that is, to consider whether the bill had sufficient regard to the rights and liberties of individuals, and to the institution of Parliament.

On behalf of the committee, I thank those individuals and organisations who lodged written submissions on the bill. I also thank the committee's secretariat and the Department of Energy and Water Supply.

I commend this report to the House.

Mr Shane King MP

Shar King

Chair

Recommendation

Recommendation 1 3

The committee recommends the Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2017 be passed.



1 Introduction

1.1 Role of the committee

The Public Works and Utilities Committee (the committee) is a portfolio committee of the Legislative Assembly which commenced on 27 March 2015 under the *Parliament of Queensland Act 2001* and the Standing Rules and Orders of the Legislative Assembly.¹

The committee's primary areas of responsibility are:

- main roads, road safety, ports, energy and water supply, and
- housing, public works and sport.

Section 93(1) of the *Parliament of Queensland Act 2001* provides that a portfolio committee is responsible for examining each bill and item of subordinate legislation in its portfolio areas to consider:

- the policy to be given effect by the legislation
- the application of fundamental legislative principles (FLPs), and
- for subordinate legislation its lawfulness.

On 15 June 2017, the Minister for Main Roads, Road Safety and Ports and Minister for Energy, Biofuels and Water Supply (the Minister) introduced the Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2017 (the bill) into the Queensland Parliament. In accordance with Standing Order 131, the bill was referred to the committee for consideration with a report date of 11 August 2017.

1.2 Inquiry process

On 16 June 2017, the committee advised the Department of Energy and Water Supply (DEWS/the department) of the Inquiry process and invited stakeholders and subscribers to provide submissions. The committee received 12 submissions (see Appendix A).

A public departmental briefing was held on 10 July 2017 (see Appendix B for witnesses) and on 14 July 2017 the committee received written advice from DEWS responding to issues raised in submissions and answers to Questions Taken on Notice at the public briefing. The submissions, transcript of the briefing, and departmental advice have been published on the committee's <u>website</u>.

1.3 Policy objectives of the bill

The explanatory notes provide that the purpose of the bill is to amend the *Electricity Act 1994* (Electricity Act) and the *Energy and Water Ombudsman Act 2006* to:

- clarify when additional generation systems and electricity storage devices can be deployed in association with the Solar Bonus Scheme (SBS) by detailing the specific circumstances in which SBS customers will not be permitted to use additional generation and electricity storage devices, and
- 2. enable the effective implementation of a new national regulatory framework for retail competition in embedded electricity networks commencing on 1 December 2017 by removing the restriction placed on embedded network customers having to connect to the local distribution network in order to access retail market offers from an authorised retailer and also enabling embedded network customers to access the dispute resolution services of the Energy and Water Ombudsman Queensland (EWOQ).²

¹ Parliament of Queensland Act 2001, section 88 and Standing Order 194.

² Explanatory notes, p 1.

1.4 Commencement of the legislation

Clause 2 of the bill provides that the proposed legislation is to be implemented in two stages:

- the amendments to the Electricity Act, implementing changes to the SBS, will be taken to have come into effect from the date the bill was introduced into Parliament (15 June 2017), and
- the amendments to the Electricity Act and the *Energy and Water Ombudsman Act 2006*, which relate to embedded networks, will commence on 1 December 2017.³

1.5 Consultation on the bill

1.5.1 Solar Bonus Scheme - consultation

The explanatory notes advised:

- public consultation on the changes to the SBS was not undertaken 'due to the community sensitivities to the SBS and potential for the costs of the SBS to increase if SBS customers rush to take up new technology in the face of an impending restriction. The Government determined that an increase in SBS costs represented an unacceptable risk which outweighed the need for broad consultation', and
- throughout the development of the proposal in 2016, DEWS consulted confidentially with a number of major stakeholders in the Queensland electricity market, including Energex, Ergon Energy, AGL, Origin Energy and Lumo/Red Energy.⁴

1.5.2 Regulatory arrangements for competition in embedded networks - consultation

The explanatory notes advised the Queensland Government released a discussion paper canvassing the major market and regulatory challenges associated with electricity supply in embedded networks, with a particular focus on addressing consumer protection and introducing competition in the marketplace; DEWS held a targeted stakeholder workshop to explore the impacts of the Embedded Network Rule (the Rule) change proposal; and DEWS subsequently released a further discussion paper to stakeholders to explore the potential impacts, benefits and technical issues associated with introducing retail competition in embedded networks.⁵

In response to a request from the committee, DEWS advised that the following stakeholders were invited to make submissions on the discussion paper *Access to Retailer of Choice for On-supply Customers in Queensland* which was released in 2016:

- WINconnect Pty Ltd
- Shopping Centre Council of Australia
- National Seniors
- Queensland Council of Social Services
- Master Grocers Australia
- Chamber of Commerce and Industry Queensland (CCIQ)
- Strata Communities Australia (Queensland)
- Caravanning Queensland
- Council of the Ageing, and
- Tenants Queensland.⁶

³ Explanatory notes, p 6.

⁴ Explanatory notes, p 5.

⁵ Explanatory notes, p 5.

⁶ Correspondence dated 27 July 2017.

In November 2015, DEWS released a Consultation Regulatory Impact Statement (RIS) which sought to consider, amongst other things, options to improve small on-supply customer access to the EWOQ.⁷

DEWS advised that in May 2016, the departments sought an exemption from a RIS on the grounds that the Rule had undergone an extensive consultation and impact assessment which is comparable to the requirements of the RIS system, and on 23 June 2016, the Queensland Productivity Commission (Regulatory Review branch) confirmed that the embedded networks proposal was excluded from further assessment.⁸

1.6 Should the bill be passed?

Standing Order 132(1) requires the committee to determine whether or not to recommend the bill be passed.

After examination of the bill, including the policy objectives which it will achieve and consideration of the information provided by the department and from submitters, the committee recommends that the bill be passed.

Recommendation 1

The committee recommends the Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2017 be passed.

⁷ DEWS, Regulatory Impact Statement, 'On-supply customer access to energy rebates and the Energy and Water Ombudsman Queensland, November 2015.

⁸ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 2.

2 Examination of the Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2017

2.1 Solar Bonus Scheme

2.1.1 Background

The explanatory notes advised that the SBS offers eligible small electricity customers a premium feedin tariff of 44 cents per kilowatt-hour (c/kWh) for surplus electricity generated by eligible solar photovoltaic (PV) systems and exported into the electricity grid; since its introduction in 2008, the SBS has helped over 280,000 Queensland homes and small businesses to install solar PV systems; and it has been instrumental in building the Queensland solar industry.⁹

In the explanatory speech the Minister advised that Queensland has one of the world's highest rates of uptake for small-scale solar power, which is installed in around one in three households:

The Solar Bonus Scheme played a pivotal role in driving this solar uptake at an early stage. While the scheme has closed to new customers, we are still seeing strong demand for small-scale solar as renewable technology prices continue to fall and customers look to take greater control over their energy use. We are also seeing rapid growth in the development of complementary technologies such as battery storage. Battery storage has the potential to give customers even more control over their usage and provide other benefits to the network.

Queensland government policies which support the transition to a cleaner energy sector, including our commitment to 50 per cent renewables by 2030, one million solar rooftops or 3,000 megawatt commitment, and the actions set out in the Powering Queensland Plan, help add to this demand and development of the clean energy sector. ¹⁰

DEWS advised the committee that while there is considerable interest from the community about the potential of additional generation and battery technologies, the current SBS rules do not anticipate the availability and affordability of new energy technologies and do not specifically address their use. ¹¹ The explanatory notes stated:

This has created ambiguity for customers who may be interested in additional generation or storage, but are reluctant to risk their eligibility for the Solar Bonus Scheme feed-in tariff.

It is important that the Government set the right conditions to create opportunities for the installation of new solar PV and batteries without adding to the cost of the Solar Bonus Scheme.¹²

The explanatory notes advised the bill aims to give certainty to SBS customers about how they can install and operate additional solar PV and/or batteries without affecting their SBS eligibility in order to give SBS customers the necessary confidence to invest in new technology.¹³

2.1.2 Amendments proposed in the bill

The bill proposes to amend section 44A of the Electricity Act to clarify when additional generation systems and electricity storage devices can be deployed in association with the SBS by detailing the specific circumstances in which SBS customers will not be permitted to use additional generation and electricity storage devices.¹⁴

-

⁹ Explanatory notes, p 1.

¹⁰ Queensland Parliament, Record of Proceedings, 15 June 2017, pp 1676-1677.

¹¹ Public briefing transcript, 10 July 2017, p 2.

¹² Explanatory notes, p 1.

¹³ Explanatory notes, pp 1-2.

¹⁴ Explanatory notes, p 2.

The proscribed circumstances provided for in section 44A(1A) are described in the explanatory notes:

- under section 44(1A)(a), SBS customers will lose eligibility if they add additional generation capacity (i.e. extra solar panels) to their existing SBS qualifying generator if the total peak combined output of the panels is greater than the rated output of their system's inverter as approved by their distributor
- under section 44A(1A)(b), SBS customers will lose eligibility if they install a battery (or similar)
 on the same electrical installation as their qualifying generator, and the battery is installed in
 a way that allows it to supply electricity to the electrical installation at the same time as the
 qualifying generator, or export electricity to the grid, and
- under section 4A(1A)(c), SBS customers will lose eligibility if they install an additional generator, such as additional solar PV system, a wind turbine, a liquid fuel generator (e.g. diesel) on the same electricity installation as their qualifying generator, and the additional generator is installed in a way that allows it to supply electricity to the electrical installation at the same time as the qualifying generator, or export electricity to the grid. 15

And the explanatory notes clarified:

This means that customers may:

- install an additional generator which only supplies the home or business at night, or during a blackout, and remain eligible for the Solar Bonus Scheme;
- install a battery which only supplies the home or business at night, or during a blackout, and remain eligible for the Solar Bonus Scheme;
- install an additional generator which supplies a separate structure which is not connected to the part of the home or business which is also supplied by the qualifying generator (e.g. a shed).¹⁶

Proposed section 44A(1B) provides that if a customer breaches any of the conditions in section 44A(1A), then the distributor is no longer obliged to pay the customer the SBS feed-in tariff of 44c/kWh. ¹⁷

Clause 5(4) of the bill proposes to insert new subsection (6) which includes three new definitions for subsection 44A(1A) – 'approved total rated inverter capacity', 'electricity storage device' and 'supply interruption'.

Retrospectivity

Clause 2 of the bill provides that the amendments to the Electricity Act implementing changes to the SBS will be taken to have come into effect from the date the bill was introduced into Parliament.

Clause 6 of the bill proposes to insert a new part 18 (Transitional provisions) into chapter 14 of the Electricity Act which explains through proposed new section 360 the application of revised section 44A. Section 360 (1) explains that the new provisions in in subsections 44A(1A), 44A(1B) and 44A(6) will apply to all customers who are eligible to receive the SBS, regardless of when their qualifying generator was installed. The explanatory notes advised that this means that the new provisions will apply to SBS customers who installed, or received approval to install, their qualifying generator before 8 June 2011 to whom section 328 applies, as well as customers who installed their qualifying generator before 30 June 2013. 18

¹⁵ Explanatory notes, pp 7-8.

¹⁶ Explanatory notes, p 8.

¹⁷ Explanatory notes, p 8.

¹⁸ Explanatory notes, p 9.

The Minister advised in the explanatory speech that the decision to retrospectively apply these provisions was not made lightly 'however, this is necessary to minimise opportunities for customers to unfairly profit from ambiguity in the law while the bill is considered. Transitional provisions will preserve the rights of those who have invested or contracted to invest in equipment under the legislation in place at the time of introduction.' 19

Exemptions

Proposed section 360(2) contains an exemption from section 44A(1A)(a) for SBS customers who had oversized their qualifying generator before the commencement of the bill.

Proposed section 360(3) contains an exemption from section 44A(1A)(b) for SBS customers who had already installed or contracted with a supplier to install a battery in a way that would otherwise be prohibited by section 44A(1A)(b) before the commencement of the bill.

Proposed section 360(4) contains an exemption from section 44A(1A)(c) for SBS customers who had already installed or contracted with a supplier to install an additional generator in a way that would otherwise be prohibited by proposed section 44A before the commencement of the bill.

2.1.3 Stakeholder views and department advice

Support for the proposed SBS amendments

A number of submissions supported the intention of the amendments to prevent households on the SBS increasing their grid exports beyond the level made possible by their original SBS-qualifying solar PV system or other generator.²⁰ For example, the submission from Solar Citizens supported the intention of the bill on the basis that the circumstances proscribed in the bill 'would go beyond the original intent of the SBS and impose unreasonable costs on the State'.²¹

<u>Degradation of solar panels</u>

However, Solar Citizens and a number of other stakeholders raised a concern that the proposed legislation will have a number of additional consequences for SBS households, including prohibiting SBS customers from installing additional generation and electricity storage devices to overcome loss of generation due to degradation of their solar panels.²²

In response, the department clarified that customers who are experiencing degradation of panels may replace components on a like-for-like basis and remain eligible for the SBS.²³

Additional generation capacity and storage devices

A number of submitters supported SBS customers being able to install energy storage to maximise selfuse of solar output (from their qualifying generator), to participate in a virtual battery arrangement, or as part of demand response.²⁴ For example Mr Sheehan submitted:

Using energy storage in this way will **reduce** exports from the qualifying generator and hence, the State's SBS liability, and bring many other benefits to the entire electricity market.

Such usage is **not** contrary to "the intent" of the SBS and should be encouraged by Government policy. For now, such usage may be a decision based on personal values and I or strategic thinking rather than hard-headed economics.

¹⁹ Queensland Parliament, Record of Proceedings, 15 June 2017, p 1677.

²⁰ See submission Solar Citizens, submission 7; EDO Qld submission 8

²¹ Submission 7, p 1.

²² Green Energy Technologies, submission 1; A C and K J Kerr, submission 2; Mr Sheehan, submission 5; and CCIQ, submission 12, p 1.

²³ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 1, p 1.

²⁴ See Mr J Sheehan, submission 5; Solar Citizens, submission 7; and EDO Qld, submission 8, p 2.

It is easy to detect those SBS consumers who use energy storage in a manner contrary to "the intent" of the SBS. There will be a spike in solar export meter readings that will be obvious to the Distributor who can then investigate and act. Distributors already use this method to detect SBS consumers that take unfair advantage of the SBS.²⁵

In response, the department advised that the bill does not limit customers' ability to expand an existing system, install an additional system, or use a battery to power their home or business:

Customers may do all of these things, but if they do so beyond what is permitted under the proposed provisions, they will become ineligible to receive the Solar Bonus Scheme.

If a customer determines there is more value in operating a second system or battery outside of what is allowed then the customer will forfeit their 44c/kWh feed-in tariff.

Some customers may wish to use energy generated by a qualifying generator and stored in a battery during the day rather than importing from the grid. However, limitations with existing metering configurations make it difficult to distinguish this operation of a battery from those customers who charge their batteries from the grid and supply their homes or businesses from the battery during the day to enable maximum exports from their qualifying generator. This operation takes advantage of the difference between the Solar Bonus Scheme feed-in tariff (44c/kWh) and the price of electricity imported from the grid (around 27 c/kWh). To enable daytime use and ensure compliance with Solar Bonus Scheme rules, separate time-based metering would be required, adding cost to the customer.²⁶

DEWS also reiterated that the bill contains an exemption for those customers who oversized their qualifying generator before 15 June 2017. The department referred to the situation provided in submission 2 and advised 'Mr Kerr would be exempt from the operation of the new provisions, as his qualifying generator was oversized prior to 15 June 2017'.²⁷

In relation to 'virtual batteries' DEWS advised:

- this is a commercial product negotiated between a retailer, distributor, or third party and a customer with a battery to enable a retailer or distributor to access the stored energy in the battery for an agreed payment
- the product would require that the quantity of electricity exported from the battery be separately measured to enable the calculation of payments and to support this, additional metering would be needed, as well as further calculation by the distributor to subtract the quantity of electricity exported from the separately metered battery from the total quantity of electricity exported from the customer's qualifying generator, and
- the product has significant potential to support the electricity market and the network, however, it would likely add additional costs to SBS administration in particular due to the technical limitations of existing metering and the administrative complexity for distributor and retailer billing systems.²⁸

²⁵ Mr Sheehan, submission 5, p 2.

²⁶ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 1, pp 2-3.

²⁷ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 1, p 2.

²⁸ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 1, p 3.

The department also advised:

The proposed changes do not preclude 'virtual batteries' within the State more broadly. Solar Bonus Scheme customers comprise less than 10 per cent of Queensland electricity customers, and another 215,000 customers currently have solar PV systems. There remains significant market opportunity for this product even if it is not available to Solar Bonus Scheme customers.²⁹

Cap proposed by some stakeholders as an alternative approach

A number of submissions proposed the implementation of a cap on SBS customers' exports as an alternative approach.³⁰ For example, the Environmental Defenders Office Qld (EDO Qld) recommended a cap on the level of energy exported to the grid that is eligible to receive the SBS payment so that SBS participants are only paid for the amount they export, as this would not limit the solar generations and storage options for SBS customers. While the EDO Qld recognised that there would be administrative burdens involved with determining a fair cap for each SBS participant it recommended that the true costs and benefits of this option be further investigated.³¹

DEWS responded that the cap option would present administrative complexity and implementation costs for distributors and retailers and these costs would ultimately be passed on to customers.³²

Inverter capacity

The Green Energy Technologies submission proposed that customers should be able to add generation capacity to their qualifying generator which exceeds the Clean Energy Council installation guidelines for the output of their system's inverter.³³

In response, the department advised that prior to the connection of a customer's qualifying generator to the supply network, the local electricity distributor approved the inverter capacity for that customer and that the bill:

..... allows the customer to add panels up to the capacity of that inverter but seeks to prevent a customer adding extra generation capacity which exceeds the output of the inverter, which is known as 'oversizing'. Oversizing enables the generator to operate for a longer period at its technical peak, generating more kilowatt-hours than a system where the panels match the inverter size. For most customers, most of this additional generation would be surplus and would be exported. This is not consistent with the intent of the Solar Bonus Scheme.³⁴

TradeCoast Central Pty Ltd (TradeCoast) pointed out that the proposed amendments depart from the Queensland Productivity Commission's Recommendation No. 19 of the Electricity Pricing Inquiry which recommended excluding existing SBS participants who install a storage device and raised the following concerns that the amendments proposed in the bill:

- may conversely increase costs associated with the SBS by enabling SBS customers to install
 batteries given operational compliance with the requirements of the proposed legislation 'will
 likely be very difficult', and
- allows existing eligible SBS customers to increase the number of solar panels installed, over and above the original installation and remain eligible for the 44c Feed in Tariff which conflicts with non SBS customers whom are ineligible to receive the 44c Feed in Tariff.³⁵

²⁹ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 1, p 3.

³⁰ See Mr Sheehan, submission 5, p 4; Solar Citizens, submission 7, p 2; and EDO Qld, submission 8, p 2.

³¹ Submission 8, p 2.

³² Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 1, p 3.

³³ Submission 1, p 1, p 3.

³⁴ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 1, p 1.

³⁵ Submission 9, p 2.

In response to the issues raised by TradeCoast Central, DEWS advised that in November 2016, the Queensland Government stated its commitment to retain the SBS until its legislated end date of 30 June 2028 and undertook to 'consider how to accommodate the uptake of new technology such as battery storage alongside the SBS'. 36 The department further advised:

Battery trials are underway throughout Australia and offer significant potential to support the electricity market and the network. The proposed Bill still allows Solar Bonus Scheme customers to power their house at night with a battery which also has the potential to deliver support for the market and network. It will be up to relevant companies to develop offers for customers and demonstrate what value could be available compared to existing entitlements already being received. If there is sufficient value for a Solar Bonus Scheme customer to utilise their system in a way not permitted then they can forego their Solar Bonus Scheme payments in exchange for this alternative offering.³⁷

Cessation date for the Scheme

While the CCIQ supported the bill's purpose in limiting expenditure on the SBS, it was opposed to the continuation of the SBS on the basis it contributes to almost 10% of a small business bill:

The scheme is holistically inequitable as many small businesses and vulnerable consumers were not and are not in a position to benefit from the program, therefore the benefits for the few are borne by the many.

Significant costs have been incurred by distributors in complying with the Queensland Government's Solar Bonus Scheme (SBS). Solar feed-in tariffs under the SBS will continue to be a major cost for small business customers as costs are passed along.³⁸

The CCIQ recommended the SBS cessation date be brought forward to earlier than 2028.

In response, DEWS advised:

- · the Queensland Government has committed to retain the SBS until its legislated end date of 30 June 2028
- the Government has directed Energy Queensland to remove the cost of the SBS from electricity bills over the next three years, and
- the bill is intended to limit potential increases in SBS costs in light of reducing equipment prices.39

2.2 Regulatory arrangements for competition in embedded networks

2.2.1 **Background**

In September 2014, the Queensland Parliament agreed to apply the National Energy Retail Law in Queensland when it passed the National Energy Retail Law (Queensland) Bill 2014. The Electricity -National Scheme (Queensland) Act 1997 governs Queensland's participation in the National Electricity Market (NEM) by applying the National Electricity Law in Queensland. This Act also applies the National Electricity Rules (NER) to the NEM in Queensland. These rules have the force of law, and are made under the National Electricity Law.

³⁶ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 1, pp 3-4.

³⁷ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 1, p 4.

³⁸ Submission 12, p 1.

³⁹ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 1, p 4.

DEWS advised the committee:

- while full retail contestability commenced for the majority of Queenslanders in 2007, access to competition for embedded network customers was deferred until a nationally consistent framework was established, and
- the new national framework for embedded networks has since been formed following the recommendations in the Australian Energy Market Commission's (AEMC) Power of Choice review.

On 17 Dec 2015, the AEMC made a new NER, known as the Embedded Networks Rule 2015. The new Rule aims to reduce the barriers to on-supply (embedded network) customers accessing offers from electricity retailers. ⁴¹ The rule change followed a request proposed by the Australian Energy Market Operator (AEMO) stemming from recommendations in the 2012 AEMC's Power of Choice review. ⁴²

The explanatory notes advised that 'the Queensland Government committed to providing competition to customers within embedded networks when a nationally consistent approach for embedded networks was developed and incorporated into the NER.⁴³ The new Rule is due to come into effect on 1 December 2017.⁴⁴

Embedded networks are private electricity networks which serve multiple premises and are located within, and connected to, a distribution or transmission system through a parent connection point in the NEM (for example, shopping centres, retirement villages, caravan parks, apartment blocks and office buildings).⁴⁵

Within an embedded network, the embedded network operator (ENO) (for example, a shopping centre owner), also known as an 'on-supplier', provides embedded network customers (also known as 'receivers') with network services. Many ENOs also sell electricity to embedded network customers (for example, a business leasing space in a shopping centre).⁴⁶

DEWS advised that the new Rule framework will allow embedded network customers to choose an alternative electricity supplier, while remaining part of the embedded network:

This framework works to facilitate direct market interaction for on-supply customers, much in the same way as direct customers of a retailer currently interact with the market, however the difference is that on-supply customers will remain connected to their embedded network and gain the ability to choose the retail service component of their electricity supply, including authorised electricity retailers.⁴⁷

An AEMC factsheet advised that the Rule change proposes the following benefits for embedded network customers who will be able to:

- choose the price and price structure of their electricity service that suits them best, which may result in lower bills
- choose from a wider variety of products and services, and
- gain easier access to government schemes and consumer protections. 48

-

⁴⁰ Public briefing transcript, 10 Jul 2017, 2.

⁴¹ DEWS, correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 3, p 1.

⁴² AEMC factsheet, <u>New rules for embedded networks</u>, accessed 5 July 2017.

⁴³ Explanatory notes, p 2.

⁴⁴ Explanatory notes, p 1.

⁴⁵ AEMC factsheet, <u>New rules for embedded networks</u>, accessed 5 July 2017.

⁴⁶ AEMC factsheet, <u>New rules for embedded networks</u>, accessed 5 July 2017.

⁴⁷ DEWS, correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 3, p 1.

⁴⁸ AEMC factsheet, <u>New rules for embedded networks</u>, accessed 5 July 2017.

In the explanatory speech, the Minister advised:

With the increasing popularity of embedded networks in recent years, it is important that customers within these networks have the ability to choose the price and price structure of the electricity service that suits them best and are able to easily access government schemes and consumer protections.

The new rule does not prevent embedded network operators from continuing to sell electricity to embedded network customers; however, it will provide them with a greater incentive to compete with retailers.⁴⁹

While amendments to the NER come into force without the need for any Queensland-specific legislative amendment, the explanatory notes advised the amendments to Queensland legislation are required in order to remove barriers that prevent competition for embedded network customers and avoid any conflict with the implementation of this major national reform in Queensland.⁵⁰

The explanatory notes advised:

The amendment of existing legislation will mean that Queensland will be consistent with the NER, which have the force of law in this jurisdiction. Victoria, NSW, South Australia and the Australian Capital Territory have regulatory frameworks that allow for embedded network customers to access retail market offers. However, upon commencement of the Embedded Network Rule on 1 December 2017, these jurisdictions will transition to the new framework as the NER also have the force of law in these jurisdictions.⁵¹

2.2.2 Amendments proposed in the bill

As outlined above, the amendments proposed in part 2 (clauses 4 and 7) and part 3 of the bill will align Queensland with the changes to the NER to clarify the regulatory arrangements for embedded network customers accessing retail market offers that will come into effect on 1 December 2017.⁵²

Clauses 4 and 7 of the bill propose amendments to the Electricity Act to remove the legislative restriction [section 23(2)] placed on 'receivers' having to connect to the local distribution network in order to access retail market offers from an authorised retailer.

The explanatory notes advised that section 23(2) of the Electricity Act:

.. restricts the circumstances in which a receiver will be considered a customer for the purposes of the Electricity Act. Omission of this restriction is needed to ensure consistency with the National Energy Retail Law (Queensland) and to remove the barrier that prevents embedded network customers from cost effectively purchasing electricity from a chosen retailer.⁵³

Part 3 of the bill proposes to amend the *Energy and Water Ombudsman Act 2006* to enable embedded network customers who choose a retailer to access EWOQ's dispute resolution services, as other retail customers can.⁵⁴

-

⁴⁹ Queensland Parliament, Record of Proceedings, 15 June 2017, p 1677.

⁵⁰ Explanatory notes, p 2.

⁵¹ Explanatory notes, p 6.

⁵² Explanatory notes, p 6.

⁵³ Explanatory notes, p 7.

⁵⁴ Explanatory notes, p 3.

2.2.3 Stakeholders views and department responses

Support for the Rule change and the proposed amendments

The submission from Powerlink Queensland indicated support for the alignment of Queensland legislation with the NER changes relating to embedded networks.⁵⁵

ERM Power also advised of its strong support for the change to the National Rule on the basis:

The current arrangements disadvantage small customers within embedded networks by limiting their access to retail competition. Without choice of supplier, these customers may be enduring higher electricity rates, lower service quality, and poor access to other energy-related services, compared to those connected directly to the distribution network.

The proposed changes are an important step towards lifting this restriction to enable choice for these customers. ⁵⁶

The Shopping Centre Council of Australia submitted that it had no opposition to the proposed amendments in the bill and advised it had been part of an extensive consultation process undertaken by the AEMC, AEMO and by the Queensland Government (DEWS).⁵⁷

The CCIQ supported the amendments on the basis it will bring Queensland into harmony with other jurisdictions, uphold the AEMC rule change and clarifying ambiguity and stated 'CCIQ welcomes the bill's purpose to reward small businesses with the power of choice, greater retail competition and consumer protections'. ⁵⁸

Compliance costs

The department advised the committee that under the new Rule:

- ENOs who sell electricity to 30 or more customers will be required to appoint an Embedded Network Manager (ENM) by 1 December 2017 to perform the functions needed to link embedded network customers to the wider market, and
- for those ENOs who sell electricity to less than 30 customers, an ENM is only required to be appointed when a customer contracts with a retailer of their choice and the cooling off period has expired this is known as an 'ENM trigger event'.⁵⁹

DEWS advised that if a customer chooses to go to an alternative supplier, the ENO will need to liaise with the retailer to make sure there is an ENM allocated to that individual customer which will allow them to be charged and billed form the market retailer. ⁶⁰

While the Property Council of Australia submission supported the National Energy Customer Framework on the basis it provides consistency and efficiency in the operation of on-selling schemes across all jurisdictions, it raised an issue in relation to the recovery of the cost of the ENM:

Owners will need to appoint an ENM for each network, and absorb the cost of this service. This will place a significant new administrative and cost burden upon them, and as such, the Property Council remains concerned about the equity of this outcome.

The requirement for these costs to be borne by the embedded network owner without any opportunity to recover their costs, is not only articulated in the new national guideline, but also within Queensland's Manufactured Home (Residential Parks) Act 2003, which precludes

_

⁵⁵ Submission 10, p 1.

⁵⁶ Submission 3, pp 1-2.

⁵⁷ Submission 6, p 1.

⁵⁸ Submission 12, p 2.

⁵⁹ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 3 – Answer to Question taken on Notice, p 2.

⁶⁰ Public briefing transcript, 10 July 2017, p 6.

manufactured home park owners who on-supply electricity from having the ability to charge any fees to cover their costs. ⁶¹

The submission from TradeCoast also raised a concern about the 'unknown costs' associated with engaging an ENM.⁶²

The department responded to this concern by advising that the AEMC designed the new framework to limit compliance costs and administrative burden for ENOs and that the AEMC expects a wide variety of choice of ENM suppliers, including an option for ENOs to perform the ENM functions themselves provided they meet the relevant requirements.⁶³

In response to a question on notice taken at the public briefing DEWS reiterated:

Under the AEMC framework, most ENOs will be required to absorb the costs of appointment and provision of ENM services. This will be a new cost for ENOs which has not been quantified by the AEMC. However, the new framework has been designed to ensure that compliance costs and the administrative burden are minimised for ENOs by providing an open market for the provision of embedded network management services. Any party that meets the Australian Energy Market Operator's (AEMO) accreditation requirements to provide embedded network management services may participate. This is aimed at providing ENOs with a wide choice of suppliers of these services, including the option of performing the functions themselves.⁶⁴

TradeCoast also raised a number of concerns about the cost of technical requirements if the amendments are passed:

To this end if the Bill is passed in its current form, Queensland ENOs will be required to undertake significant technical changes to their networks in order to ensure their networks are compliant with technical and operational requirements which apply to embedded networks in FRC [full retail competition] jurisdictions.

These will involve significant switchboard modifications to enable additional retail meters to be installed.⁶⁵

In response, the department advised that since 1 January 2012, ENO's have been required to install NEM compliant sub-metering within their own private networks and:

As TradeCoast Central Industrial Park has been established since 2008, the requirement for the ENO to install NEM compliant metering does not apply. Therefore, any customer within the TradeCoast Central Industrial Park wishing to access a retailer of their choice is likely to require an upgrade to their meter. Any costs associated with installation of a NEM compliant meter is a decision between the customer and their retailer.⁶⁶

DEWS provided further advice to the committee that if an ENO has installed a non-compliant electricity sub-meter for a customer in their network after January 2012, then they will be liable for the costs to install a NEM meter.⁶⁷

⁶¹ Submission 4, pp 1-2.

⁶² Submission 11, p 8.

⁶³ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 2, p 1.

⁶⁴ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 3 – Answer to Question taken on Notice, p 2.

⁶⁵ Submission 11, p 7.

⁶⁶ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 2, pp 1-2.

⁶⁷ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 3 – Answer to Question taken on Notice, p 2.

The submission from the Shopping Council of Australia supported the proposed amendments, so long as they do not impose additional costs, outside the national rules, for embedded network owners. The submission stated 'our interpretation is that the amendments will not impose such costs, and the Department has confirmed our interpretation of the bill'.⁶⁸

Implementation timeframes and consultation

The Shopping Centre Council of Australia advised that it had been involved in embedded network policy in Queensland, and nationally, over numerous years and thanked DEWS for their 'courtesy and professionalism' in discussions regarding this bill.⁶⁹

TradeCoast raised a concern that the proposed amendment to the Electricity Act had only recently been introduced and that the new Rule implementation date is 1 December 2017:

To this end, in order to ensure compliance by 1 December 2017, ENOs will have less than four months to implement the significant technical changes, prepare for the financial changes discussed above and to comply with the Rule Change.⁷⁰

The department provided the following response:

The establishment of the Embedded Networks Rule follows extensive consultation under the Rule making process conducted by the AEMC. This process commenced with the release of a consultation paper on 21 May 2015, and a further consultation paper in the form of a Draft Rule on 10 September 2015. Both of these processes invited stakeholders to make written submissions in response to the issues raised.

During this time, stakeholders have had the opportunity to be involved in the AEMC consultation process and have known since 17 December 2015 of the commencement date (1 December 2017) of the new framework.⁷¹

The submission from TradeCoast also raised a concern that 'the Queensland Government seems to have failed to sufficiently consult with ENOs, or consider the impacts on ENOs of the proposed changes under the bill'.⁷² DEWS responded:

The substantial element of consultation for this reform has been conducted by the AEMC through formal consultation with many stakeholders over a period of almost three years to inform the Embedded Networks Rule.

In addition and in May 2016, the Department sought exemption from a Regulatory Impact Statement (RIS) on the grounds that the Embedded Networks Rule had undergone an extensive consultation and impact assessment which is comparable to the requirements of the RIS system. On 23 June 2016, the Department received advice from the Queensland Productivity Commission (Regulatory Review branch) that the embedded networks proposal was excluded from further assessment. 73

-

⁶⁸ Submission 6, p 1.

⁶⁹ Submission 6, p 1.

⁷⁰ Submission 11, p 9.

⁷¹ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 2, p 2.

⁷² Submission 11, p 9.

⁷³ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 2, p 2.

Additional embedded network regulatory reviews

The AEMC is currently undertaking a broader review to identify and assess any issues for embedded network customers under the National Energy Retail Law and the National Energy Retail Rules (NERR) with the terms of reference being provided to the Council of Australian Governments Energy Council in December 2016. The AEMC advised the reason for the review is to address other issues that were raised during consultation on the Embedded Rule change:

A number of substantial retail market issues were raised during the AEMC's work on the rule change. Due to the limited scope of the rule change request, the Commission did not have the power to make changes to the NERR. The Commission also considered that further analysis and consultation was required on the retail issues raised by embedded networks, including potential NERL changes.⁷⁴

The TradeCoast submission recommended that the proposed amendments be delayed until the AEMC review is finalised. ⁷⁵ The department responded that while the AEMC is currently reviewing regulatory arrangements for embedded networks more broadly, and this process is on-going, any outcomes are outside the scope of the bill. ⁷⁶

Amendments to the Energy and Water Ombudsman Act 2006

Submitters generally supported the proposed amendment to the *Energy and Water Ombudsman Act* 2006.⁷⁷ The Shopping Centre Council of Australia noted the proposed amendments only relates to 'onmarket' customers in embedded networks, as opposed to embedded network customers:

We understand that access to the Ombudsman Scheme will only be in relation to an on-market customer's supplier issues, and not any embedded network issues, and subsequently, that no cost will be imposed on embedded network owners (e.g. via direct or indirect membership of the Ombudsman Scheme), and further, that embedded network owners will not be bound by any Ombudsman decision. The Departments has confirmed our understanding of these provisions of the Bill.⁷⁸

The Shopping Centre Council of Australia submission also welcomed the Government's consideration of access to Ombudsman schemes for embedded networks as part the national approach to this issue, including a current review being undertaken by the Australian Energy regulator and the Australia and New Zealand Energy and Water Ombudsman Network. ⁷⁹

ERM Power considered it appropriate that embedded network customers have access to the EWOQ dispute resolution services given that small distribution-connected customers have access to the service. 80 The CCIQ submission also supported the amendments to the *Energy and Water Ombudsman Act 2006.* 81

⁷⁹ Submission 6, p 1.

⁷⁴ AEMC factsheet, Review of regulatory arrangements for embedded networks, accessed 13 July 2017.

⁷⁵ Submission 11, pp 10-11.

⁷⁶ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 2, p 2.

⁷⁷ See submissions 3 and 12.

⁷⁸ Submission 6, p 1.

⁸⁰ Submission 3, p 2.

⁸¹ Submission 12, p 2.

2.2.4 Further issues considered by the committee

At the public briefing, the committee requested advice from DEWS about the potential costs for embedded network customers who do not already have a separate meter installed. The department advised that potentially the customer may be responsible for some metering costs, if they agreed to this as a separate infrastructure charge from the retailer:

In terms of cost, there would be a consideration of the current metering requirements just to make sure they would be compliant. For anything before 2012, there might need to be a meter upgrade in choosing to do that. Otherwise, the national rule change takes into account the physical situations that may exist in a range of various scenarios—from a manufactured homes park to a body corporate situation. There are various different metering arrangements depending on when they are installed. In terms of potential cost to the customer, there could be a metering consideration but the retailer would also be likely to take into account the existing infrastructure. If it were suitable, or compatible, it is unlikely that there would be any requirements for that customer to transfer over. In any case, any metering changes in the embedded network itself could not be passed on to that customer. The retailer would be able to provide that customer with any information in terms of upgrades that would be required in the same way that a direct customer can negotiate at the moment around metering.⁸²

In response to a question taken on notice at the briefing, DEWS provided further advice that while, for the majority of on-supply customers, accessing retail competition is unlikely to result in any significant financial impacts, on-supply customers who choose to purchase electricity from a retailer may need to upgrade their electricity sub-meter and these costs are likely to either be borne by the electricity retailer or agreed between the customer and their retailer. ⁸³

For example, if a resident within a Manufactured Home Park that was built prior to 2012 accepted an offer from an electricity retailer, it is likely that the current sub-meter will need to be upgraded by the resident in order to be compliant with NEM requirements. As mentioned, any cost for the new meter is likely to be borne by the retailer or agreed between the customer and their retailer. If the Manufactured Home Park was built post 2012, then NEM compliant sub-metering is expected to be in place and therefore no metering upgrade will be required by the resident.

As a further example, residents located in an apartment complex or tenants in a shopping centre may incur other costs in addition to a potential meter upgrade. For example, there may be limited space availability in some situations where meter switchboards may not be capable of housing a National Electricity Market (NEM) meter.

On-supply customers will need to weigh the financial and other benefits of accessing a competitive market offer against any cost they may incur.⁸⁴

⁸² Public briefing transcript, 10 July 2017, p 5.

⁸³ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 3 – Answer to Question taken on Notice, p 2.

⁸⁴ Correspondence dated 14 July 2017, Attachment 3 – Answer to Question taken on Notice, p 2.

3 Compliance with the *Legislative Standards Act 1992*

3.1 Fundamental legislative principles

Section 4 of the *Legislative Standards Act 1992* (LSA) states that FLPs are the 'principles relating to legislation that underlie a parliamentary democracy based on the rule of law'. The principles include that legislation has sufficient regard to:

- the rights and liberties of individuals, and
- the institution of Parliament.

The committee has examined the application of the fundamental legislative principles to the Bill. The committee brings the following to the attention of the House.

3.1.1 Rights and liberties of individuals

Section 4(2)(a) of the LSA requires that legislation has sufficient regard to the rights and liberties of individuals.

Clause 5

Clause 5 proposes to amend section 44A (Additional condition to allow credit for electricity produced by small photovoltaic generators) of the Electricity Act.

Section 44A currently provides that should a customer be eligible, they will receive a payment for excess electricity generated and exported to the network, otherwise known as the SBS. The scheme offers a feed-in tariff of 44 cents per kilowatt-hour (c/kWh) for all surplus electricity generated by eligible solar PV systems and exported into the electricity grid.

Clause 5(3) proposes to insert new section 44A(1A) into the Electricity Act. Section 44A(1A) provides that a customer stops being entitled to receive the SBS 44 c/kWh feed-in tariff from their distributor if:

- (a) the maximum output of the component of the customer's qualifying generator that generates electricity exceeds, in aggregate, the approved total rated inverter capacity of the generator; or
- (b) the customer installs an electricity storage device as part of the electrical installation supplied by the customer's qualifying generator in a way that enables the device to supply electricity to
 - (i) the electrical installation at the same time as the qualifying generator, other than during a supply interruption; or
 - (ii) the distribution entity's supply network; or
- (c) the customer installs 1 or more generators (each an additional generator) as part of the electrical installation supplied by the customer's qualifying generator in a way that enables the additional generator to supply electricity to:
 - (i) the electrical installation at the same time as the qualifying generator, other than during a supply interruption; or
 - (ii) the distribution entity's supply network.

Clause 6 proposes to insert transitional provisions by way of new section 360 which sets out the application of section 44A(1A). Section 360(2) provides an exemption in relation to a qualifying customer who has oversized a qualifying generator before commencement. Similarly, sections 360(2) and 360(3) provide exemptions for qualifying customers who have installed an electricity storage device or additional generator, or have entered into a contract to install these items, before commencement.

Potential FLP issues

Section 44A(1A) provides that a customer's total peak combined output generated by their panels or another device cannot be greater than the rated output of their systems inverter, as approved by their distributor. Should this occur they will lose eligibility to receive the SBS premium feed-in tariff payment.

In restricting the ability of customers to increase their electricity generation, section 44A(1A) potentially breaches section 4(2)(a) of the LSA, which provides that a bill should have sufficient regard to the rights and liberties of individuals.

The explanatory notes acknowledged the potential breach and provide the following justification:

Clause 5 of the Bill proposes restricting Solar Bonus Scheme customers from: 'oversizing' their Solar Bonus Scheme qualifying generators, or installing additional generators and/or electricity storage devices in a way that could boost the premium feed in tariff payments they receive under the Solar Bonus Scheme. Should a customer undertake one of these activities, they will lose eligibility to receive the Solar Bonus Scheme premium feed-in tariff payment. This may potentially breach the principle that legislation has sufficient regard to rights and liberties of individuals.

At present, the Solar Bonus Scheme rules do not anticipate the availability and affordability of these technologies and do not address their use. While customers undertaking these activities are generally not eligible for premium feed-in tariff payments in relation to energy generated from a secondary generation system or electricity storage device, they will not necessarily lose eligibility for scheme payments in relation to legitimate exports from their qualifying generator. However, given technical limitations it is in practice very difficult to determine whether an exported electron has come from a Solar Bonus Scheme qualifying generator, or an additional generator/storage device, particularly if these are operating concurrently. Ambiguity around this creates uncertainty for distribution businesses who are liable for payment, and customers trying to comply with the rules. In addressing this ambiguity and setting clear boundaries for what is not permissible, the clause gives sufficient regard to the rights of individuals.⁸⁵

Committee consideration

The committee noted the restrictions that section 44A(1A) will place on SBS customers in limiting the power they may export to the electricity grid and noted the consequences if their capacity exceeds their approved output. However, the committee also noted:

- the section does not limit the ability of customers to install and use additional solar panels or batteries to meet their electricity consumption needs or replace panels which degrade over time
- if customers do not exceed their current capacity they will still receive their 44 c/kWh feed-in tariff from their distributor, and
- the provisions provide a safeguard to qualifying customers by providing an exemption to those
 who have made an oversizing modification or have installed an electricity storage device or
 additional generator, before commencement.

Clause 2

Clause 2(1) provides that amendments to the Electricity Act implementing changes to the SBS will be taken to have come into effect from the date the Bill was introduced into Parliament. These are the amendments in Part 2 of the bill, other than sections 4 and 7.

Pursuant to clause 2(2), the amendments to the Electricity Act and the *Energy and Water Ombudsman Act 2006* as provided by section 4 and 7, and part 3, will commence on 1 December 2017.

Explanatory notes, pp 4-5.

Potential FLP issues

In allowing the amendments pursuant to Part 2 to come into effect from the date the bill was introduced, clause 2(1) operates retrospectively. This potentially breaches section 4(3)(g) of the LSA which provides that legislation should not adversely affect rights and liberties, or impose obligations retrospectively. Strong argument is required to justify an adverse effect on rights and liberties, or imposition of obligations, retrospectively.

The explanatory notes acknowledged the potential FLP breach and provide the following justification for the clause:

The proposed changes to the Solar Bonus Scheme may adversely affect, in some cases, the rights of certain individuals, being Solar Bonus Scheme customers who may have been considering whether to:

- 'oversize' their Solar Bonus Scheme qualifying generator, or
- install additional generators and/or electricity storage devices in a way that could boost the premium feed in tariff payments they receive under the Solar Bonus Scheme.

To minimise the potential impact on those customers, the Minister for Energy, Biofuels and Water Supply has publicly announced the proposal on the date of introduction. The Bill also protects Solar Bonus Scheme customers who have already installed, or have entered into contracts to purchase, additional generation capacity or batteries, prior to the date of the announcement.

This approach reduces the potential negative impacts from retrospective legislation on individual rights by preserving the rights of individuals who have made investments, or have contracted to invest, in equipment under the legislation in place at the time of introduction, while minimising the opportunities for customers to unfairly profit from ambiguity in the legislation.⁸⁶

Committee consideration

The committee noted the justification provided in the explanatory notes regarding the retrospective operation of the provisions and also noted that the legislation seeks to safeguard and provide certainty to those individuals who have entered into agreements or made investments pursuant to the legislation in place at the time the bill was introduced.

3.2 Explanatory notes

Part 4 of the LSA requires an explanatory note be circulated when a bill is introduced into the Legislative Assembly, and sets out the information an explanatory note should contain.

Explanatory notes were tabled with the introduction of the bill. The committee considers the notes are fairly detailed and contain the information required by Part 4 and a reasonable level of background information and commentary to facilitate understanding of the bill's aims and origins.

0.

⁸⁶ Explanatory notes, p 4.

Appendix A – List of submissions

Sub #	Submitter
001	Green Energy Technologies
002	A C and K J Kerr
003	ERM Power
004	Property Council of Australia
005	Mr J Sheehan
006	Shopping Centre Council of Australia
007	Solar Citizens
800	Environmental Defenders Office Qld
009	TradeCoast Central Pty Ltd (relating to the Solar Bonus Scheme)
010	Powerlink Queensland
011	TradeCoast Central Pty Ltd (relating to the Embedded Network Rule)
012	Chamber of Commerce and Industry Queensland
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Appendix B – List of witnesses at public departmental briefing

Department of Energy and Water Supply

- Ms Kristen Findlay, Manager, Consumer Policy, Embedded Network
- Ms Gayle Leaver, General Manager, Energy Industry Policy, Solar Bonus Scheme
- Mr Tim Quirey, Director, Strategic Futures, Solar Bonus Scheme
- Ms Ty Taylor, Director, Energy Consumer and Pricing, Embedded Network
- Mr Peter Wall, Principal Adviser, Strategic Futures, Solar Bonus Scheme



Statement of Reservation



Electricity and Other Legislation (Batteries and Premium Feed-in Tariff) Amendment Bill 2018

Statement of Reservation

Whilst the non-government members have supported the passage of this legislation there are a few aspects of the bill that we have some reservations about.

The first comment that non-government members would like to state is there were no public hearings offered to submitters to appear before the committee due to the very short timeframe to finalise the report.

The committee did receive a public briefing from the department and also a written response to submissions by the department however had no opportunity to ask questions of the submitters.

Some of the issues raised by submitters that non-government members would have liked to have had the opportunity to pursue further are as follows:

Solar Bonus Scheme

In regard to the Solar Bonus Scheme Amendments there were concerns expressed by Master Electricians Australia regarding the pragmatic approach to compliance regarding oversizing stated in the explanatory notes.

The department stated that there will be a 5% allowance regarding the output threshold with new replacement panels but this would not be stipulated in the legislation. The committee was told that this was discussed with Master Electricians Australia.

The fact remains that this was a matter raised by the Master Electricians Australia in their submission, after the introduction of the bill.

Competition in Embedded Networks

Non-government members of the committee are concerned that the new Embedded Networks Rule 2015, which came into force on 1 December 2017, has been implemented prior to the Australian Energy Market Commissions broader review of regulatory arrangements for embedded networks being finalised.

Non-government members are also concerned that the new rule will impose additional compliance costs and administrative burden for embedded network owners. Evidence during the hearings from the department on this issue was:

"The way we understand it within these privately owned networks is that most of them are individually metered, so all residents have their meter. Their electricity charges are based on

129 Cunningham Street, Datoy Qld 4405 ▼ PO Box 417, Datoy Qld 4405 ▼ 07 4570 4100 E condamine@partiament.qd.gov.au f PatWein_NP



metered consumption and they also pay a proportion of the costs of getting electricity to the residential complex. They are external distribution network charges that all of us pay to get electricity to our door. That cost is shared amongst all residents. Under this bill, residents who choose a retailer-they can go away from their embedded network owner if they want to-will in most cases likely get two bills: one from the retailer for consumption charges, which will be based on metered consumption, and the second from their embedded network owner for a share of the cost of getting electricity to the residential complex. We understand that that is a shared cost equally amongst all residents; it is not based on consumption.

Those customers that are inside an industrial park or a shopping centre, for example, will have the ability to choose their own electricity retailer. How those network charges are shared amongst those types of customers is a decision of the embedded network operator. For example, a larger café might pay more in network charges in a shopping centre than, say, a hairdresser".

The non-government members are concerned with the problems that New South Wales and Victoria are currently experiencing and think it would have been better to wait for the result of the review.

Yours sincerely,

Pat Weir MP

Member for Condamine

Par noch

Deputy Chair, State Development, Natural Resources and Agricultural Industry Development Committee